IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS ELWELL, Petitioner,	
vs.	CASE NO.: SC07-1003
	Lower Tribunal No.: 2D05-907
STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.	
/	

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. MORRIS, ESQUIRE and JAMES C. BANKS, ESQUIRE of Banks & Morris, P.A. FL Bar Nos.: 0144680 & 281670 Special Assistant Public Defenders Office of the Public Defender Post Office Box 9000-PD Bartow, Florida 33831

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The "Petitioner" was the Defendant in the trial court and will hereinafter be referred to as "Petitioner." The Respondent will hereinafter be referred to as "State." The Record on Appeal consists of five (5) volumes. Volume 1, the Clerk's Record, will be referred to by use of the Volume number (Vol. 1) followed by the appropriate page number. Volumes 2 and 3, the Trial Transcripts, will be referred to by use of the Volume number (Vol. 2 / Vol. 3) followed by the appropriate page number. The supplemental record contains two (2) volumes; one filed March 29, 2005 (Vol. 4) and one filed August 2, 2006 (Vol. 5).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, Thomas Elwell was charged by Amended Information with one count of Lewd or Lascivious Molestation and one count of Failure to Register as a Sexual Offender. (Vol. 1, P.12).

The Petitioner filed a Motion To Dismiss Count Two of Information on the ground the Appellant was not required to register under section 943.0453(2) Fla. Stat. (Vol. 1, P.154). The State responded with a Traverse. (Vol. 1, P.25-49). The Petitioner filed a Motion to Sever the two counts of the Information. (Vol. 1, P.50). The Court severed the two counts and dismissed Count Two on October 26, 2004. (Docket Entry and Vol. 1, P.64).

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Use Hearsay Statement of Child Victim of Sexual Abuse. (Vol. 1, P.56-57). The defense filed a Motion to Strike said notice. (Vol. 1, P.64).

On November 3, 2004, the Honorable Michael F. Andrews held a hearing on the Petitioner's Motion to Strike Notice of Intent to Use Hearsay Statement of Child Victim and to Exclude Child Hearsay Testimony from Trial. (Vol. 1, P.56-57, 63, 94-157). At the hearing, twelve year old B.P. (Out of respect for the parties, the juvenile victim's name shall be omitted and referred to by use of the initials "B.P.") was "truth qualified" by the prosecutor. (Vol. 1, P.107-108). He

testified that on May 5, 2004 he was helping erect a pool at his Aunt Wanda's house. (Vol. 1, P.104-108). While he and the Petitioner were swimming the Petitioner pinned him near the side of the pool, and put his hands in B.P.'s pants and touched his butt. (Vol. 1, P.112-113). "He was like rubbing them and stuff." (Vol. 1, P.114). The Petitioner later "got out of the pool, and went to the side of the pool and he peed." (Vol. 1, P.114). The Petitioner asked, "Can I see your penis?" B.P. said, "no" and the Petitioner responded, "Why? I'm going to see it when me and you go to my house." (Vol. 1, P.115). The Petitioner and B.P. were planning on going on a fishing trip the following day. (Vol. 1, P.115). The Petitioner also told the boy, "Me and you can rub each other down with oil and stuff," and said they could watch porno movies. (Vol. 1, P.116). The boy did not tell anyone about these conversations that day. (Vol. 1, P.116). The next day he did tell his grandfather. (Vol. 1, P.117). He also told his Aunt Wanda. (Vol. 1, P.118). They eventually went to the police where the told Officer Phillips the same story. (Vol. 1, P.119).

During cross-examination he testified he told his grandfather what happened on the same day it happened - not the next morning. (Vol. 1, P.117, 124). He also stated the comment about rubbing oil on one another occurred two days earlier.

(Vol. 1, P.125). The comments about watching porno movies were made two or three days earlier. (Vol. 1, P.135-136).

Patrolman William Phillips testified B.P's grandfather brought B.P. to be interviewed about an incident which occurred the day before. (Vol. 1, P.140). Brian B.P. told him the Petitioner put both hands in B.P.'s bathing suit, rubbing his buttocks and saying, "Doesn't that feel good?" (Vol. 1, P.142). Patrolman Phillips found the boy to be extremely credible. (Vol. 1, P.145). B.P. did not tell him about being asked to watch porno movies or being rubbed down with oil. (Vol. 1, P.152).

The child hearsay hearing continued on November 15, 2004. B.P.'s grandfather testified that on the day after his grandson helped with his Aunt Wanda's pool he was supposed to go fishing with the Petitioner. (Vol. 5, P.228). "I went into the room and says, don't you have to go fishing. He says, Grandpa, I've got to talk to you about something. . . . I said, what's the matter. He said I don't want to go fishing with Tommy. I said, what happened. He says, Tommy put his hands on me in the swimming pool." (Vol. 5,P.229). The grandfather then went into detail about the conversation with his grandson. (Vol. 5, P.230-232). The child was then taken to the police station where he talked to Officer Phillips. (Vol. 5, P.234).

The trial judge ruled that everything the grandfather testified to came from the child which would give credence to the child's comments and would therefore be admissible against the Petitioner. (Vol. 5,P.254).

The case proceeded to trial on November 15 and 16, 2004, before the Honorable Michael Andrews. B.P., the alleged victim, testified his birthday was on October 5, 1992. (Vol. 2, P.130). On May 8, 2004 he went to his Aunt Wanda's house to help put up a pool. (Vol. 2, P.133). Several people including the Petitioner were there. (Vol. 2, P.134). Over Petitioner's objection he stated early that morning the Appellant asked if B.P. wanted to see the Petitioner's van with its bed, dresser, and play station. The Petitioner then asked if B.P. wanted to go to the store to purchase cigarettes. The victim declined. (Vol. 2, P.137-143). After putting the pool up, he and the Petitioner went swimming. (Vol. 2, P.144). They were having fun with the Petitioner throwing him around until Aunt Wanda told them to stop. (Vol. 2, P.145). The Petitioner pushed B.P. around the pool in an inner-tube and eventually pushed him over to the pool wall. (Vol. 2, P.146). The Petitioner put his hands inside B.P.'s swim trunks and rubbed his butt for five seconds. (Vol. 2, P.146-147). B.P. asked him to stop twice and the Petitioner did so. (Vol. 2, P.148). The Petitioner got out of the pool, walked around, "pulled down his pants and pee'd right in front of me." (Vol. 2, P.149-150). The Petitioner

asked if he could see the victim's penis. The victim shook his head "no." (Vol. 2, P.150). The Petitioner stated, "well I am going to see it when we get to my house" referring to a planned fishing trip the next day. (Vol. 2, P.150). The Petitioner also told the victim the Petitioner would rub him down with lotion and the victim could do the same to the Petitioner. (Vol. 2, P.153). Later on the porch, the Petitioner told B.P. he had beer in his refrigerator and the Petitioner would let him smoke. (Vol. 2, P.152). B.P. did not say anything to his Aunt Wanda because he was afraid "she would go all psycho and stuff and then get into a fight and I didn't want to see them fight." (Vol. 2, P.151).

Eventually B.P. went home. (Vol. 2, P.154). The next day he was supposed to go to the Petitioner's house. (Vol. 2, P.157). B.P. eventually told his grandfather what happened. (Vol. 2, P.157). He told his grandfather because he did not want to go fishing with the Petitioner as planned due to the events of the previous day. (Vol. 2, P.181). His grandfather and Aunt Wanda took him to the police station. (Vol. 2, P.158). During cross-examination B.P. stated the Petitioner told him he could be like his dad (who was deceased) and do father-like things with B.P.. B.P. did not want the Petitioner to replace his father. (Vol. 2, P.265).

B.P.'s aunt testified she was friends with the Petitioner. (Vol. 2, P.196-197). On May 8, 2004 she and others finished putting the pool up. (Vol. 2, P.198-199).

B.P. and the Petitioner went swimming while she and others worked nearby in the house or on the porch. However they were unable to see anything going on between B.P. and the Petitioner. (Vol. 3, P.208-213, 230, 234). The next day after talking to her father they took B.P. to the police station. (Vol. 3, P.222).

Officer Robert Close of New Port Richey made contact with the Petitioner two days later. According to the Petitioner's driver's license the Petitioner was born January 11, 1957 and was 47 years old. (Vol.3, P. 241-242). Based on his experience in law enforcement he would not expect to find or collect any evidence where a child was merely touched. (Vol. 3, P.250).

B.P.'s grandfather knew there were plans for the Petitioner to take B.P. fishing on Sunday. (Vol. 3, P.254). B.P. liked going fishing. (Vol. 3, P.255). However, when morning came, B.P. was rather quiet, didn't want to go fishing, and told his grandfather about the touching. (Vol. 3, P.258). Over Petitioner's objections B.P.'s grandfather detailed the conversation with B.P.. (Vol. 3, P.259-263). Specifically, defense counsel objected to the grandfather's recollection of B.P.'s disclosures by stating, "Objection hearsay, Your Honor." The trial court overruled the objection. (Vol. 3, P.259). He testified that he and Aunt Wanda took B.P. to the police station after these disclosures. (Vol. 3, P.263).

The State rested its case. (Vol. 3, P.274). The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal. (Vol. 3, P.274). The Court denied same. (Vol. 3, P.275). The defense rested without calling any witnesses and renewed the same motion which was denied. (Vol. 1, P.277-278, 286).

The Court instructed the jury on Lewd and Lascivious Molestation,
Attempted Lewd and Lascivious Molestation, and Battery without objection. (Vol. 3, P.311-313, 321). The jury returned with a verdict of guilty of the lesser-included offense of Attempted Lewd and Lascivious Molestation. (Vol. 3, P.325).

The State filed a Notice of Enhanced Penalty, (Vol. 1, P.58) and a Notice of Defendant's Qualification as a Prison Releasee Reoffender. (Vol. 1, P.60).

The jury found the Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense of Attempted Lewd and Lascivious Molestation. (Vol. 1, P.85). The Petitioner filed a Motion for New Trial. (Vol. 1, P.165-166). The Court sentenced the Petitioner to 30 years as a Habitual Violent Offender on counts one and two to run concurrent. (Vol. 1, P.173-179). Notice of Appeal was timely filed on February 2, 2005. (Vol. 1, P.181, 185, 189).

The District Court of Appeal for the Second District of Florida affirmed the Petitioner's conviction. <u>Elwell v. State</u>, 954 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2007). This

Court granted review based on conflict among the districts and conflict with its own opinions. See Elwell v. State, 963 So.2d 227 (Fla. Sep 14, 2007).

POINTS OF ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING CHILD HEARSAY IN THE ABSENCE OF MAKING THE REQUISITE FINDINGS PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 90.803 (23)?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by admitting a child sexual abuse victims hearsay statements into evidence without first making a pre-trial determination of their reliability pursuant to Section 90.803(23). Perez v. State, 536 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1988); Griffin v. State, 526 So.2d 752 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Palazzolo v. State, 754 So.2d 731 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); and Garcia v. State, 659 So.2d 388 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

ARGUMENT

I. THE PETITIONER'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED AND REMANDED HOLDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING CHILD-HEARSAY TESTIMONY.

Standard of Review:

The standard of review of the reliability of hearsay statements and their admission into evidence is one of abuse of discretion. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 388, 392 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

Merits:

(The Hearsay Issue)

Section 90.803 (23) Fla. Stat. (2003) provides an exception to the rule against the admission of hearsay by providing for the admission of an out-of-court statement made by a child victim under 12 years of age describing an act of child abuse or sexual abuse against the child if in pertinent part:

- 1. The court finds in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient safeguards of reliability and
- 2. The child either:
 - a. Testifies . . .
- (c) The court shall make specific findings of fact, on the record, as to the basis for its ruling under this subsection.

This hearsay exception only applies if the foundation requirements enumerated in the statute are complied with. C. Ehrhardt Florida Evidence Section 90.803.23 (2005 Edition). Before the statement of a child may be admitted under Section 90.803(23), the trial court is required to hold a hearing and determine

whether the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement demonstrate whether the statement is reliable. Perez v. State, 536 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1988). It is reversible error for the trial court to admit out-of-court statements under Section 90.803 (23) where the trial court fails to make specific findings of fact. Griffin v. State, 526 So.2d 752, 757-58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Palazzolov. State, 754 So.2d 731, 738 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); Garcia v. State, 659 So.2d 388 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

In the instant case, the trial court held a pretrial hearing on the Appellant's motion to exclude child hearsay testimony. (Vol. 1, P.63, 94-157, Vol.5, P.221-258). The court heard the testimony of the child, a police officer, and the child's grandfather, to whom the child reported the alleged offense. (Vol. 1, P.94-157, Vol. 5, P.221-258). At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court ruled that everything the grandfather would testify to came from the victim, thereby giving credence to the child's comments. (Vol. 5, P.254). The trial court failed to make the findings required by Section 90.803(23) Fla. Stat. which is reversible error. Griffin, supra., Palazzolov, supra., and Garcia, supra.

The Appellant's conviction in this cause rests solely on the testimony of the alleged victim, and the corroborating testimony of the grandfather. Thus, the

corroborating hearsay testimony of his grandfather weighed heavily in the prosecution's favor. Allowing the grandfather to testify and thereby bolster the credibility of the only witness to the crime with his prior statements was prejudicial to the Petitioner. Elysee v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D505 (Fla. 4th DCA February 15, 2006) *citing* Barnes v. State, 576 So.2d 439 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). It cannot be said that the testimony of the victim after being impeached by defense counsel standing alone would have resulted in the same verdict. The failure of the trial court to rule on the reliability of the hearsay testimony of the grandfather constitutes reversible error.

Therefore this cause should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

(Harmless Error)

This Court has recently articulated that the harmless error analysis is a question of "Is it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error?" <u>Galindez v. State</u>, 955 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2007) *citing* <u>Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999). It is inappropriate to uphold a jury verdict of guilty by concluding that the permissible evidence alone would support the verdict. <u>Knowles</u>

v. State, 848 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2003). Instead, the question for this Court is: "Do I, the judge, think that the error substantially influenced the jury's decision?" <u>Id</u>. at
1056 citing Goodwin v. State, 751 So.2d 537 (Fla.1999) (quoting O'Neal v.
McAninch, 513 U.S. 432, 437, 115 S.Ct. 992, 130 L.Ed.2d 947 (1995)).

The Petitioner's conviction in this case rests solely on the testimony of the alleged victim, and the corroborating hearsay testimony of the grandfather. Thus, the corroborating hearsay testimony of the grandfather weighed heavily in the prosecution's favor. Allowing the grandfather to testify and thereby bolster the credibility of the only witness to the crime with his prior statements was prejudicial to the Petitioner. Elysee v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D505 (Fla. 4th DCA February 15, 2006) citing Barnes v. State, 576 So.2d 439 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). It cannot be said that the testimony of the victim after being impeached by defense counsel standing alone would have resulted in the same verdict. Simply stated it is not clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. See Galindez v. State, 955 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2007) citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999). Further, it is inappropriate to uphold a jury's verdict of guilty in the Petitioner's case by concluding that the permissible evidence alone would support the verdict. See Knowles v. State, 848 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2003). The trial court's

error in admitting inadmissible hearsay substantially influenced the jury's decision.

<u>See Id.</u> at 1056 *citing* <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 537 (Fla.1999) (quoting <u>O'Neal</u> v. McAninch, 513 U.S. 432, 437, 115 S.Ct. 992, 130 L.Ed.2d 947 (1995)).

Therefore, the Petitioner's conviction must be reversed and cannot be said to be harmless error.

(Preservation of the Issue [the real issue])

Florida Statute 90.104 (2003) states:

- (1) A court may predicate error, set aside or reverse a judgment, or grant a new trial on the basis of admitted or excluded evidence when a substantial right of the party is adversely affected and:
 - (a) When the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears on the record, stating the specific ground of objection if the specific ground was not apparent from the context; or
 - (b) When the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence was made known to the court by offer of proof or was apparent from the context within which the questions were asked.

If the court has made a definitive ruling on the record admitting or excluding evidence, either at or before trial, a party need not renew an objection or offer of proof to preserve a claim of error for appeal.

(2) In cases tried by a jury, a court shall conduct

proceedings, to the maximum extent practicable, in such a manner as to prevent inadmissible evidence from being suggested to the jury by any means.

(3) Nothing in this section shall preclude a court from taking notice of fundamental errors affecting substantial rights, even though such errors were not brought to the attention of the trial judge.

Where the State seeks to introduce child hearsay testimony pursuant to § 90.803 (23) Fla. Stat., the defense places the trial court on notice by written objection, a hearing is conducted and counsel makes a hearsay objection during trial the matter is preserved for appellate review. See Hopkins v. State, 632 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1994); Heuss v. State, 660 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); In Re: R.L.R., 647 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); and Mathis v. State, 682 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). Defense counsel is not required to specify each finding of fact to which they are objecting. See Hopkins v. State, 632 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1994); Heuss v. State, 660 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); In Re: R.L.R., 647 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); and Mathis v. State, 682 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

In the instant case, the District Court of Appeals' decision in <u>Elwell v. State</u>, 954 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2007) held that the Petitioner failed to preserve his objection to the introduction of the child hearsay testimony and upheld the Petitioner's conviction. However, the record on appeal reflects the Petitioner filed

a Motion to Strike the testimony of the victim's grandfather (Vol. 1, P.64), a hearing was held on the Motion to Strike (Vol. 1, P.56-57, 63, 94-157), the Trial Court ruled the objectionable testimony was admissible without making any findings of fact (Vol. 5,P.254) and during the trial defense counsel raised an objection based on hearsay (Vol. 3, P.259).

The Petitioner submits the lower court misinterpreted <u>Hopkins</u>. The lower court distinguished <u>Hopkins</u> by contending that its holding was "predicated on the defendant's assertion of his confrontation rights." <u>Elwell v. State</u>, 954 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2007). However, this was not the basis of the <u>Hopkins</u>' opinion. To the contrary, Hopkins' constitutional right to confront witnesses against him was a supplemental part of the holding. Instead, the Court held that "[f]ailure to make specific findings not only ignores the clear directive of the statute, *but also* implicates the defendant's constitutional right to confrontation." <u>Hopkins</u>, <u>Id.</u> at 1377. (emphasis added). The <u>Hopkins'</u> opinion focused on the trial court's failure to meet the statutory mandates. <u>Id.</u> It focused on whether defense counsel's objection "necessarily called into question whether the statutory procedures had been followed." Id. at 1376.

<u>Hopkins</u> addressed two independent issues. The first was whether the requirements of Section 92.54(5) Fla. Stat. were met, and the other was whether

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