IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS ELWELL,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC07-1003

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MERIT ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

DIANA K. BOCK Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 440711 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013

Telephone: (813)287-7900 Facsimile: (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The facts of this case distinguish it from the holding of this Court in Hopkins v. State, 632 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1994). The Petitioner failed to properly preserve any objection to the trial court's finding of admissibility relating to the child victim's statements to his grandfather which were introduced at trial under the child hearsay exception; § 90.803(23), Florida Statutes. A trial court's failure to provide an explanation or factual findings to support its conclusion that child hearsay statements are reliable is not fundamental error. Townsend v. State, 635 So.2d 949 (Fla. 1994). Lastly, the grandfather's testimony was cumulative; thus, if deemed error, the same was harmless.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PETITIONER FAILED TO PRESERVE HIS OBJECTION TO THE INTRODUCTION OF SECTION 90.803(23), FLORIDA RULE OF EVIDENCE; CHILD HEARSAY TESTIMONY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 924.051, FLORIDA STATUTES (2003); THE SAME NOT CONSTITUTING FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, THEREBY BARRING APPELLATE REVIEW. (RESTATED)

The Second District Court of Appeal correctly ruled that Petitioner failed to properly preserve this issue for appellate review by failing to make an objection to the sufficiency of the trial court's findings as to the admissibility of the child hearsay statements communicated through the child victim's grandfather. Elwell v. State, 954 So.2d 104 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). Since the Petitioner failed to raise the proper, timely objections below, the trial court was never placed on notice of any error with respect to its findings and, thus, was never given an opportunity to correct the deficiency in the findings. This issue is unpreserved for appellate review. Id.; Harrell v. State, 894 So.2d 935 (Fla. 2005). See also § 924.051(1)(b), Florida Statutes.

Lack of Fundamental Error

A trial court's failure to make specific findings required in section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, does not constitute fundamental error. Elwell, supra; Townsend, supra; Poukner v. State, 556 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Stone v. State, 547 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

Failure To Preserve Error For Appellate Review

Petitioner argues that in holding that this issue was not properly preserved for appellate review the Second District Court of Appeal in *Elwell v. State*, 954 So.2d 104 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) misinterpreted this Court's holding in *Hopkins v. State*, 632 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1994). Upon careful reading of the cases and review of the law in this area, Respondent respectfully disagrees with this argument.

It appears that Petitioner misconstrues this Court's holding in Hopkins, declining to acknowledge the proper underpinnings of the issue in that case to be the confrontation rights of the defendant, seizing upon dicta, improperly terming it as only a "supplemental part of the holding." <u>See</u> Petitioner's Initial Brief, pg. 18. Upon proper review of Hopkins, it is apparent that this Court's review of the application of 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, was directly tied to the core issue, that being, the implication of the defendant's constitutional riaht confrontation and the availability of close circuit television for the broadcasting of a child victim's testimony at trial. In fact, the requisite objection to preserve the issue before the appellate court in Hopkins was based solely on the issue of the admissibility of the child victim's testimony via closed circuit television. 632 So.2d at 1376. Reviewing the nature of the objection, the basis therefore, and the context in which the objection was raised, this Court found that the issue had been properly preserved.

Such is not the case now presented for review in the case *sub judice*. Confrontation is not at issue in this case, nor are any other factors present that would raise the trial court's omission below to the level of fundamental error required for reversal. As held by the Second District Court of Appeal below:

Prior to raising the issue in this appeal, Elwell never raised any objection concerning the sufficiency of the trial court's findings under section 90.803(23). Elwell's objection the reliability of the child-hearsay statements was not sufficient to preserve the specific issue that he now raises on appeal. See [State v.] Townsend, 635 So.2d [954] at 958 [(Fla. 1994)] The trial court was never placed on notice of any error with respect to its findings and thus was never given an opportunity to correct the deficiency in the See Harrell, 894 So.2d at 940. Accordingly, under the general rules governing preservation of error, the issue of the sufficiency of the findings was clearly unpreserved.

[Emphasis added] Elwell, 954 So.2d at 109. Specifically, Petitioner failed to object to the sufficiency of the findings by the trial court and did not raise any objection to the trial court below except in the nature of a general hearsay objection as to the content of the witness's testimony. The Second District Court of Appeal, reviewing this issue, directly found: "At no point in the pretrial or trial proceedings did Elwell offer an objection regarding the trial court's findings." Elwell, 954 So.2d at 105.

As provided in Section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes (2003):

An appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial

error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error. A judgment or sentence may be reversed on appeal only when an appellate court determines after a review of the complete record that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court, or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error.

[Emphasis added]. The court in *Elwell* went on to define the term preservation and its components:

Preserved is defined to mean "that an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor. §924.051(1)(b) [emphasis added].

Proper preservation thus involves these components:

First, a litigant must make timely, contemporaneous objection. Second, the party must state a legal ground for that objection. Third, "[i]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." purpose of this rule is to "place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings."

[Emphasis added] Elwell, 954 So.2d at 106; citing $Harrell\ v$. State, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005)(citations omitted). The only objection raised by the Petitioner at trial when the witnesses

testified to what he had been told by his grandson was: "Objection, hearsay, Your Honor." (Vol. III, T. 259)

Sufficiency of the trial court's findings under Section 90.803(23), Florida Statues, is completely distinct from a general objection based upon only "hearsay." This type of general objection does not serve to put the trial judge on notice that a defendant believes that an error may have been committed relating to the statutory sufficiency of his findings during or after the full-blown evidentiary hearing, nor does it give the trial judge the requisite opportunity to correct this alleged error at an early stage of the proceedings.

Specifically in this the case *sub judice*, the court was never made aware that the Petitioner intended to challenge the sufficiency of *its findings*. The pre-trial Motion to Strike Notice of Intent to Use Hearsay Statement of Child Victim and to Exclude Child Hearsay Testimony From Trial, filed by defense counsel below, in summary, set forth as its basis four points:

- (1) The notice was not timely filed by the State;
- (2) The notice did not specify any reasons why the State believed the hearsay statements were trustworthy under section 803.23, Florida Statutes;
- (3) The notice was not sufficiently specific, as it did not state with particularity the exact statements the State intended to introduce at trial, giving a narrative rather than specifics; and
- (4) The child was 12 at the time of the hearing, therefore, the child hearsay exception was inapplicable.

(Vol. I, R. 063) After the evidentiary hearing was concluded on November 15, 2004, after testimony was taken from the child victim, Officer Phillips and the child's grandfather, defense counsel argued to the trial court that:

(1) Section 803.23 was inapplicable because the child, since the incident, had turned 12 years old. Consequently, although the child was only 11 at the time of the incident, he was now 12 and the rule should not be applied to him.

The trial judge denied that argument, advising that he would follow the rule which provided that section 803.23 was applicable when a child victim was eleven or less at the time of the offense. (Vol. SR2, T. 249) Defense counsel next argued that:

- (2) Because the child had "testified most capably" at the hearing, that even if section 803.23 applied, under a section 403 analysis the testimony should be kept out because it was repetitive and unnecessary;
- (3) That the child did not tell an adult at the first opportunity, waiting until he had returned home to his grandfather's house to report what had happened; and
- (4) That the State had not specifically said what statements it intended to introduce at trial.

(SR2, T. 252-253, 255) The rest of defense counsel's argument related to the testimony of Officer Phillips, successfully arguing that the officer's recollection of the events when he briefly interviewed the child, his mother and grandfather, as more of a intake interview, did not meet the reliability standard required for admissibility. (SR2, T. 251-252, 257)

At best, it can be argued that Petitioner raised only one possible point of review relating to reliability of the assertion, i.e., that the child did not report the incident immediately to his aunt, rather, he waited until returning to his grandfather's home to tell about what had happened. In his argument to the court, defense counsel implied that the child victim may have made the allegation merely to get attention. This claim was made in connection with an unsubstantiated argument that the child may have been held back a grade in elementary school for "acting out." (SR2, T. 256) As the court aptly observed:

You can't establish that that's the reason he's in the fourth grade. He might be in the fourth grade because he didn't do well in school. That doesn't mean that - - I mean, you don't have any evidence of that. You can't establish - - even if you can, how does that qualify as relevant?

(SR2, T. 256-257) Defense counsel's response that it could be relevant to the court's review, "[i]f he is consistently seeking attention and acting out," was not based upon facts, it was merely speculative inquiry. (SR2, T. 257) When asked directly by the trial judge: "Can you prove that? Can you establish through any means whatsoever that that's how this child operates[]," defense counsel acknowledged that he could not. Ultimately defense counsel based his argument to keep out the grandfather's testimony upon his allegation that the child failed to tell immediately that the Petitioner had molested him in the pool and a 403 analysis of relevancy. (SR2, T. 257)

Unlike the facts in *Hopkins*, this underlying objection does not serve to preserve the gambit of constitutional implications that were the basis of the Court's decision in *Hopkins*, in which this Court found that the pre-trial objections and arguments supported a finding that the defendant had adequately preserved his argument that the trial court's findings were insufficient to establish reliability.

Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, provides:

- Unless the source of information or the (a) method or circumstancesby which statement is reported indicates a lack of out-of-court trustworthiness, an statement made by a child victim with a physical, mental, emotional, developmental age of 11 or describing any act of child abuse or neglect, any act of sexual abuse against a child, the offense of child abuse, the offense of aggravated child abuse, or any offense involving an unlawful sexual act, penetration contact, intrusion, or performed in the presence of, with, by, or on the declarant child, not otherwise admissible, is admissible in evidence in any civil or criminal proceeding if:
 - 1. The court finds in а hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient safeguards of reliability. In making determination, the court consider the mental and physical age and maturity of the child, the nature and duration of the abuse or offense, the relationship of the child to the offender, reliability of the assertion, the reliability of the child victim, and

any other factor deemed appropriate;
and

2. The child either:

a. Testifies; or . . .

The child victim in this case did testify, at both the evidentiary hearing and at trial and was subject to extensive cross-examination.

As demonstrated by the record, the Petitioner failed to preserve this issue. Although he now raises on appeal an issue relating to his allegation that the trial court erred in failing to make the specific findings required by section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, that was not his argument to the trial court at the evidentiary hearing, or subsequently at trial before admitting the child hearsay statements into evidence. Unlike Hopkins, the defense counsel at no time advised the trial court that he was challenging the court's findings based upon the trial court's alleged insufficiency of making specific findings as to the reliability of the statements under 90.803(23). Elwell, 954 So.2d at 106, 107. The ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal was correct, Petitioner failed to preserve this argument for appellate review. This appeal should be denied.

If the Petitioner is allowed to raise this issue without the proper preservation then this type of alleged error will be elevated to a level tantamount to that of fundamental error. The law does not intend this to be so. As this Honorable Court held in

State v. Townsend, 635 So.2d 949, 959 (Fla. 1994): ". . . the failure of a trial judge to make sufficient findings under the statue, in and of itself, does not constitute fundamental error." The defining distinction from the Hopkins case is that there was more to the objection than just the trial court's alleged insufficient findings under 90.803(23); there was an inextricably intertwined issue of the defendant's constitutional confrontation rights because the child victim in that case did not testify at the trial and the defense's challenge to those findings under a section 92.54 review which encompassed the sufficiency of the trial court's ruling. In the case now before this Court for review, the child victim did testify at trial, confrontation is not an issue, and this review is limited to section 90.803(23).

This Court in Hopkins did not hold that once a defendant had made an objection to the introduction of child hearsay testimony that the matter is preserved for appellate review on all matters contained within the evidentiary hearing. Rather pointedly this Court determined that "any shortcomings in the statutory findings must be brought to the trial court's attention by an objection in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." Hopkins, 632 So.2d at 1375. While discussing this in the context of section 92.54, the logic is applicable to the same statutory requirements presented by section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes. See also Townsend, supra; Section 924.051, Florida Statutes.

As the record below demonstrates, the Petitioner did not raise any objection, at any time during or after the evidentiary hearing, regarding the trial court's statutory findings, or lack thereof. Moreover, that was not the objection raised at trial, the single statement: "Objection, hearsay, Your Honor," did not serve to timely put the trial court on notice that the Petitioner was in any manner challenging the sufficiency of the trial court's prior statutory findings. Irrespective of Petitioner's argument otherwise, his objections below did not provide a sufficient basis to now allege that he properly challenged the sufficiency of the trial court's ruling under section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes.

This Court in *Hopkins* specifically narrowed its ruling based upon the circumstances of that case, which included and was dependent upon the defendant's Sixth Amendment Confrontation rights. 632 So.2d at 1375. There is no confrontation issue raised in the case *sub judice*. In reaching its holding, this Court articulated:

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